
-1- 
 

 
 

To Provide a Sustainable Quality of Life 
Through Excellent Stewardship of Government 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. City Manager: William Homka 
City Clerk: Estkarlen P. Magdaong, emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 
COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE 

The community is encouraged to attend meetings of the City Council: 
 In person at City Hall 
 Online via ZOOM (link, meeting ID & password below) 
 By telephone (toll and toll free numbers, meeting ID & password below) 
 Listen on KUCB TV Channel 8 or Radio Station 89.7 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
The Mayor and City Council value and encourage community input at meetings of the City Council. There is a time 
limit of 3 minutes per person, per topic. Options for public comment: 

 In person 
 By telephone or ZOOM - notify the City Clerk if you’d like to provide comment using ZOOM features (chat 

message or raise your hand); or *9 by telephone to raise your hand; or you may notify the City Clerk during 
regular business hours in advance of the meeting 

 Written comment is accepted up to one hour before the meeting begins by email, regular mail, fax or hand 
delivery to the City Clerk, and will be read during the meeting; include your name 

ZOOM MEETING LINK: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83246795029  

Meeting ID: 832 4679 5029 / Passcode: 630155 
 
TELEPHONE: Meeting ID: 832 4679 5029 / Passcode: 630155 
Toll Free numbers: (833) 548-0276; or (833) 548-0282; or (877) 853-5247; or (888) 788-0099 
Non Toll-Free numbers: (253) 215-8782; or (346) 248-7799; or (669) 900-9128 

 

AGENDA 
1. Call to order 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Recognition of Visitors 

5. Awards and Presentations 

a. Recognize City Employment Anniversary 

 Marichu Miller, Department of Utilities, 15 years 

 Timothy Mahoney, Department of Ports and Harbors, 25 years 

6. Mayoral Proclamation Declaring October 2023 as Domestic Violence Awareness Month, with 
presentation from M. Lynn Crane, Executive Director of Unalaskans Against Sexual Assault and 
Family Violence (USAFV) 

7. Oath of Office – Kim Hankins, Police Chief 

8. Adoption of Agenda 

9. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting September 26, 2023 

10. City Manager Report 

11. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council or 
make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 
 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, October 10, 2023 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Packet Page Number 1 



-2- 
 

12. Public Comment on Agenda Items Time for members of the public to provide information to Council 
regarding items on the agenda. Alternatively, members of the public may speak when the issue comes up on 
the regular agenda by signing up with the City Clerk. Three-minute time limit per person. 

13. Public Hearing Members of the public may testify about any item set for public hearing. Three-minute time 
limit per person. 

a. Ordinance 2023-10: Creating Budget Amendment #1 to the Fiscal Year 2024 Budget, 
appropriating $252,224 from the General Fund to create the Emergency Cliff Face 
Stabilization on Ballyhoo Road Project; recognizing Local Support Revenue of 
$13,090.59 in the General Fund and increasing the PCR Operating Budget by 
$13,090.59 for the Senior Exercise Program; and accepting State of Alaska Department 
of Health HEC Grant for $78,500 to fund EMS equipment upgrades and data sharing 
capabilities with the IFHS clinic 
 

14. Work Session Work sessions are for planning purposes, or studying and discussing issues before the 
Council. 

a. FY22 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) Presentation – BDO 

 City of Unalaska FY22 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report  

 City of Unalaska FY22 Federal Single Audit Reports 

15. Regular Agenda Persons wishing to speak on regular agenda items must sign up with the City Clerk. 
Three-minute time limit per person. 

a. Ordinance 2023-10: 2nd Reading, Creating Budget Amendment #1 to the Fiscal Year 
2024 Budget, appropriating $252,224 from the General Fund to create the Emergency 
Cliff Face Stabilization on Ballyhoo Road Project; recognizing Local Support Revenue of 
$13,090.59 in the General Fund and increasing the PCR Operating Budget by 
$13,090.59 for the Senior Exercise Program; and accepting State of Alaska Department 
of Health HEC Grant for $78,500 to fund EMS equipment upgrades and data sharing 
capabilities with the IFHS clinic 

b. Resolution 2023-39: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with R&M 
Consultants, Inc. for Assessment Services for the Emergency Cliff Face Stabilization 
Ballyhoo Road Project in the amount of $47,606 

c. Resolution 2023-40: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with 
Southeast Roadbuilders for Rock Stabilization Services for the Emergency Cliff Face 
Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project in the amount of $197,418 

d. Canvass Committee Report, October 3, 2023 General Election; and Certification of 
Election Results 

e. Resolution 2023-41: Appointing Judges and Clerks for the Run-off Election on October 
30, 2023 and Judges to serve on the Canvass Committee 

16. Council Directives to City Manager 

17. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council or 
make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

18. Adjournment 

Packet Page Number 2 



EMPLOYEE 

ANNIVERSARY

MARICHU MILLER

15 Years
Department of 

Public Works

Congratulations!

Packet Page Number 3 



EMPLOYEE 

ANNIVERSARY

TIM MAHONEY

25 Years
Department of 

Ports and Harbors

Congratulations!

Packet Page Number 4 



City of Unalaska, Alaska 
PROCLAMATION 

WHEREAS, all people living and working in Unalaska have the right to be safe in their homes, workplaces and 
community. Domestic Violence is widespread and devastating to many Alaskan families, and we must combat 
these crimes; and 

WHEREAS, the physical and emotional scars of domestic violence affect men, women and children across our 
state in alarming numbers. Domestic violence violates an individual’s dignity, security and humanity and can 
leave lifelong scars on the minds, bodies and spirits of victims; and 

WHEREAS, in the United States, approximately one in four women and one in seven men have been victims 
of domestic violence, and 15.5 million children are exposed to violence every year; and 

WHEREAS, one in three adult women in Alaska have been victims of stalking in their lifetime and one in nine 
Alaskan women 60 years of age or older experienced psychological or physical abuse in the past two years; 
and 

WHEREAS, domestic violence remains a serious crime that crosses all economic, racial, gender, educational, 
religious and societal barriers. In Alaska, we acknowledge the disproportional impact that interpersonal 
violence has on Alaska Native populations where 80% of Alaska Native women have experienced one or 
more forms of violence in their lifetime; and 

WHEREAS, as Unalaskans, we must demonstrate with our words and actions that we do not tolerate intimate 
partner violence. We will continue to build alliances among community entities, businesses and 
governmental, educational and faith-based organizations that will strengthen our families and hold offenders 
accountable for their crimes; and 

WHEREAS, every October, we recognize the victims and survivors of domestic violence, and remind them 
that they are not alone. We also recognize those working and volunteering for USAFV (Unalaskans Against 
Sexual Assault and Family Violence), who stand ready to respond to those in crisis day or night; and  

WHEREAS, USAFV provides safe shelter, advocacy, personal support and other services to adults and 
children impacted by domestic violence in Unalaska and Dutch Harbor; and  

WHEREAS, USAFV seeks to prevent future domestic violence by providing education and outreach to people 
of all ages; and 

WHEREAS, only a coordinated community effort will put a stop to domestic violence. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I,                                                   , MAYOR  PRO TEM OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA, 
DO HEREBY PROCLAIM THE MONTH OF OCTOBER 2023 AS DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AWARENESS MONTH, 
AND URGE ALL CITIZENS TO WORK TOWARD THE ELIMINATION OF ALL VIOLENCE WITHIN FAMILIES AND 
WITHIN DATING RELATIONSHIPS OF ALL KINDS. 

SO PROCLAIMED this 10th day of October 2023. 

 
        ________________________________________________  
ATTEST:       Mayor Pro Tem 
 
___________________________________ 
Estkarlen Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 5 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
43 Raven Way - P.O. Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
Tel (907) 581-1251     FAX (907) 581-1417 

Unalaska, Alaska 

 

 

OATH OF OFFICE 
 

I, KIM HANKINS, do solemnly swear that I will honestly, faithfully and impartially 

perform the duties of Chief of Police of the City of Unalaska, in true accord with the Constitution 

of the United States of America, the laws of the State of Alaska, and the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Unalaska.  

 

I take this oath freely, without the least equivocation, mental reservation or self evasion 

of mind whatsoever. 

 

 

     ________________________________  
Kim Hankins 

  

 

  

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 10th day of October 2023. 

 

 

____________________________ 
Estkarlen Magdaong 
City Clerk 

 

Packet Page Number 6 



 

-1- 
 

 
 

To Provide a Sustainable Quality of Life 
Through Excellent Stewardship of Government 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. City Manager: William Homka 
City Clerk: Estkarlen P. Magdaong, emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 

MINUTES 
 

1. Call to order. Council Member Tungul called the regular meeting of the Unalaska City Council to 
order on September 26, 2023, at 6:09 p.m. 

2. Roll call. The City Clerk called the roll. Council members Bell, Coleman, Looby and Tungul were 
present in person while Nicholson, Robinson and Tutiakoff participated remotely. Tungul 
announced a quorum established. 

Looby read the City’s Mission Statement: To provide a sustainable quality of life through excellent 
stewardship of government. 

Bell moved to appoint Tungul as Mayor Pro Tem; second by Coleman. Motion passed by 
consensus. 

3. Pledge of Allegiance. Tungul led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

4. Recognition of Visitors. Mayor Pro Tem recognized the following people in attendance: 

 Cameron Dean, Planning Director  
 Patricia Soule, Finance Director 
 Carol Atonio, Police Officer 

5. Oaths of Office. City Clerk administered the oath of office for Finance Director Patricia Soule and 
Police Officer Carol Atonio.  

Deputy Chief Bill Simms introduced and welcomed Police Officer Carol Atonio as her husband, 
Sililo Atonio, pinned on her badge.  

6. Adoption of Agenda. Looby moved to adopt the agenda; second by Coleman. There being no 
objection, the agenda was adopted by consensus. 

7. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting. Coleman moved to approve the proposed minutes of the 
September 12, 2023 meeting, with a second by Looby. There being no objection, motion passed by 
consensus. 

 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 
 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, September 26, 2023 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Packet Page Number 7 



 

-2- 
 

8. City Manager Report. In addition to the written report, Acting City Manager mentioned that the 
presentation of FY22 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report will happen during the October 10, 
2023 meeting. ACM also welcomed Planning Director Cameron Dean and Finance Director Patricia 
Soule. Fire Chief Kim Hankins will start on October 9, 2023. 

9. Community Input & Announcements were given as follows: 

 Roger Blakeley, PCR Director announced programs available at the Parks and 
Recreation Center. 

 M. Lynn Crane announced the Unalaska Interagency Cooperative meeting at Unalaska 
Public Library on Thursday, September 28, 2023 at noon; Dustin Morris of American 
Foundation for Suicide Prevention, Alaska Chapter is in town doing multiple workshops; 
Make a Difference Dinner for suicide prevention and awareness on Friday, September 
29, 2023 from 6:00-8:00 pm at the Unalaska Highschool Small Gym; to recognize 
Orange Shirt Day on Saturday, September 30, 2023, USAFV along with Qawalangin 
Tribe will host a free film screening of the documentary Unspoken: America’s Native 
American Boarding School at 6:00 pm in the Unalaska Library Community Room. 

 Natalie Cale from Ounalashka Corporation spoke and provided an update on OCCP, 
LLC.  

 City Clerk announced General Municipal Election on October 3, 2023 and the Canvass 
Committee Meeting at 10:00 am on October 6, 2023.  

 Frank Kelty gave an update on the fisheries.  

10. Public Comment on Agenda Items. None. 

11. Public Hearing. Mayor Pro Tem opened the public hearing on Ordinance 2023-09: Amending 
Unalaska Code of Ordinances, Title 3 Personnel, Chapter 3.52.010 Personal Leave Accrual Plan 

There being no testimony, Mayor Pro Tem closed the public hearing. 

12. Regular Agenda  

 Unfinished Business 

i. Ordinance 2023-09: 2nd Reading, Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinance, Title 3 
Personnel, Chapter 3.52.010 Personal Leave Accrual Plan  

Coleman moved to adopt Ordinance 2023-09, with a second by Bell. 

Acting City Manager provided an overview of the ordinance. 

Council discussion. 

Roll call vote: Coleman – yes; Bell – yes; Looby – yes; Nicholson – yes; Tungul – yes; 
Robinson – yes 

Motion passed 6-0 

b.  New Business  

i. Ordinance 2023-10: Creating Budget Amendment #1 to the Fiscal Year 2024 Budget, 
appropriating $252,224 from the General Fund to create the Emergency Cliff Face 
Stabilization on Ballyhoo Road Project; recognizing Local Support Revenue of 

Packet Page Number 8 



 

-3- 
 

$13,090.59 in the General Fund and increasing the PCR Operating Budget by 
$13,090.59 for the Senior Exercise Program; and accepting State of Alaska Department 
of Health HEC Grant for $78,500 to fund EMS equipment upgrades and data sharing 
capabilities with the IFHS clinic 
 
Coleman made a motion to introduce Ordinance 2023-10 and schedule it for public 
hearing and second reading on October 10, 2023; with a second by Looby. 
 
Acting City Manager provided an overview of the ordinance and answered Council 
questions.  
 
Fire Chief Ben Knowles provided information and answered Council questions. 
 
Roll call vote: Looby – yes; Coleman – yes; Nicholson – yes; Robinson – yes; Tungul – 
yes; Bell – yes 
 
Motion passed 6-0  
 

13. Council Directives to City Manager. None. 

14. Community Input & Announcements. None 

15. Adjournment. Having completed all items on the agenda, Mayor Pro Tem adjourned the meeting 
at 6:49 p.m. 

 

These minutes were approved by the Unalaska City Council on October 10, 2023. 

 

 
________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk  

Packet Page Number 9 



 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

TO: Mayor Tutiakoff and City Council Members 
FROM: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
DATE: October 10, 2023 
 

 High-Speed Internet: The Information Systems Division is pleased to announce that all City facilities 
are now connected to high-speed, fiber optic internet service. This service has been a long time in 
coming, and this increased connectivity will have a very positive impact on our day-to-day work. 

 Classification and Compensation Study for Unrepresented Employees: The work is proceeding and 
directors are in the process of reviewing position description questionnaires. We are still on track to 
complete the study by the end of the year, or early in 2024. 

 Removal of Abandoned Vehicles and Scrap Metal: We are proceeding with planning for this project 
utilizing Trident’s offer of their supply barges for backhaul off the island. We have learned that there 
will be no barges until the summer of 2024, which provides time to assemble all of the elements of a 
community-wide program.  

 Staffing Update: Police Chief Kim Hankins has arrived and began work yesterday. The current number 
of open positions by department are: 

Department Openings Detail 
Administration 1 HR Manager 
Clerks 1 Administrative Assistant 
DPS 3 Sergeant, Police Officer, Corrections Officer 
Fire/EMS 0  
DPU 9 Director, Electrical Eng. Tech (offer pending), 2 Lineman, 

Lineman Chief, Water Supervisor, 2 Water Operators & 
Solid Waste Operator 

DPW 3 City Engineer, Light Equipment Mechanic, Installation 
Maintenance Worker 

Finance 1 Controller 
PCR 6 4 Lifeguards, Recreation Program Coordinator, FT 

Library Assistant (offer pending) 
Planning 2 Administrative Assistant, GIS Administrator 
Ports 1 Billing and Scheduling Clerk 

 
 Community Extra Mile Awards: This award is presented to citizens within the community who have 

gone the extra mile to assist with a city function, event, or specific incident. Nominations for this 
award can be made by any member of the City’s Supervisory and Management Staff or by a City 
Council Member or the Mayor. Mayor and Council are encouraged to make nominations as they see 
fit. 

 LEPC: LEPC membership guidelines require participation by local elected officials. It would be great to 
have a City Council member or the Mayor sign up as a regular member and another elected official 
sign up as an alternate. The plan is for quarterly meetings and the first meeting was held in July. Sign-
up can be accomplished at this link: https://form.jotform.com/231555985072059 

Packet Page Number 10 



BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL

Section 1. Classification: This is a non-code ordinance.
Section 2. Effective Date: This ordinance becomes effective upon adoption.
Section 3. Content: The City of Unalaska FY24 Budget is amended as follows:

A. That the following sums of money are hereby accepted and the following sums of money
are hereby authorized for expenditure.

B. The following are the changes by account line item:

Amendment No. 1 to Ordinance 2023-03
Current Requested Revised

I.  OPERATING BUDGETS
A. General Fund

Sources:
Appropriated Fund Balance -$                 252,224$         252,224$         
Local Support - APIA -$                 13,091$           13,091$           
State of Alaska Grant -$                 78,500$           78,500$           

-$                 343,815$         343,815$         
Uses:

Transfers to Enterprise Capital Projects -$                 252,224$         252,224$         
Parks, Culture and Recreation - Rec Programs 953,104$         13,091$           966,195$         
Fire & EMS 1,759,581$      78,500$           1,838,081$      

2,712,685$      343,815$         3,056,500$      
II.  CAPITAL BUDGETS
A.  Port Project Budget
Emergency Cliff Face Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project

Sources:
Transfers from General Fund -$                 252,224$         252,224$         

Uses:
Emergency Cliff Face Stabilization Project -$                 225,224$         225,224$         

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 10, 2023.

________________________________________
Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
Mayor

Attest:

Estkarlen P. Magdaong
City Clerk

CITY OF UNALASKA
UNALASKA, ALASKA

ORDINANCE 2023-10

CREATING  BUDGET AMENDMENT #1 TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2024 BUDGET, APPROPRIATING $252,224 FROM 
THE GENERAL FUND TO CREATE THE EMERGENCY CLIFF FACE STABILIZATION ON BALLYHOO ROAD 
PROJECT; RECOGNIZING LOCAL SUPPORT REVENUE OF $13,090.59 IN THE GENERAL FUND AND 
INCREASING THE PCR OPERATING BUDGET BY $13,090.59 FOR THE SENIOR EXERCISE PROGRAM; AND 
ACCEPTING STATE OF ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH HEC GRANT FOR $78,500 TO FUND EMS 
EQUIPMENT UPGRADES AND DATA SHARING CAPABILITIES WITH THE IFHS CLINIC

-1-
Packet Page Number 11 



City of Unalaska

FY24 Budget Amendment 1

1) General Fund - Operating Budget
Add $252,224 to Appropriated Fund Balance 
Add $13,090.59 to Rec Program Temp Employees for APIA senior exercise program
Add $78,500 to Fire/EMS - Grants for equipment upgrades and IFHS data sharing

2)  Port Fund Capital Projects Budget
Add $252,224 to Transfers from General Fund
Add $252,224 to Emergency Cliff Face Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project budget

Org Object Project Current Requested Revised

1) General Fund - Operating Budget
Sources:

Appropriated Fund Balance 01010049 49900 -$            252,224.00$ 252,224.00$ 
PCR Private Contributions 01012047 47400 -$            13,090.59$   13,090.59$   
Other Grants-DPS 01011041 42198 -$            78,500.00$   78,500.00$   

Uses:
Transfer to Enterprise Capital Projects 01029854 59940 -$            252,224.00$ 252,224.00$ 
Rec Programs - Temp Employees 01023251 51200 22,000.00$ 13,090.59$   35,090.59$   
Fire/EMS - Grants (Supplies) 01021552 56450 -$            78,500.00$   78,500.00$   

2) Port Fund - Capital Project Budgets
Emergency Cliff Face Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project

Sources:
Transfer from General Fund 54119848 49100 PH24A -$            252,224.00$ 252,224.00$ 

Uses:
Engineering and Architectural 54127053 53240 PH24A -$            54,806.00$   54,806.00$   
Construction Services 54127053 54500 PH24A -$            151,860.00$ 151,860.00$ 
Contingency 54127053 55912 PH24A -$            45,558.00$   45,558.00$   

Summary of Budget Amendment and Schedule of Proposed Accounts

-2-
Packet Page Number 12 



-1- 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Peggy McLaughlin, Port Director 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 26, 2023 
Re: Ordinance 2023-10: Creating FY24 Budget Amendment #1, to provide funding 

for the Emergency Cliff Face Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project 
 
 
SUMMARY: If adopted, Ordinance 2023-10 will create FY24 Budget Amendment #1 to provide 
emergency funding for cliff face stabilization on Ballyhoo Road, and transfer funds from GL Fund 
01029854-59940 to 54119848-49100-PH24A in an amount not to exceed $252,224. This 
proposed amount of emergency funding will fund the planning, equipment, mobilization, labor, 
and project oversight required to safely remove the immediate rock hazard on Ballyhoo Road, 
City parcel 01-09-200. There are two contractors: R&M Consultants, in charge of geology, 
planning, and assessment; and Southeast Road Builders, in charge of implementing methods 
and the removal of the rock hazard on Parcel 01-09-200. The second reading for final approval 
of the ordinance is requested for October 10, 2023. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council has had no formal action for this project, but have been 
briefed on the mitigation efforts in process. This request is the first request for formal action. 

BACKGROUND: In December of 2022 a severe storm caused community-wide flooding and mud 
and rock slides. These hazards included landslides and rock fall on and in the vicinity of Ballyhoo 
parcel 01-09-200. Once the water had receded, large rock falls continued. A significant threat was 
identified on Ballyhoo Road parcel 01-09-200 in the form of a large overhanging rock wedge with 
a potential slip plane. A similar rock hazard fell in 2014 and caused damage to the warehouse on 
the same plot. Ultimately, the City was responsible for approximately $315,000 for the 2014 
damages.  

DISCUSSION: The emergency funding is requested as the threat of rock falls still exists, and 
property and human safety are at imminent risk. It is anticipated that the freeze and thaw cycles 
of winter could provoke the rock wedge to break loose. Weather is not the only risk. In June 2023, 
a forklift-sized rock fell from underneath wedge and along the slip plane. It is clear that action 
needs to be taken. 

R&M conducted the first assessment in February and provided the City with names of contractors 
with scaling and rock anchoring expertise. We contacted each of those companies and had one 
response from Southeast Road Builders. We are considering this an emergency project and 
consequently are doing our due diligence to avoid sole sourcing, but also understand the urgency 
in expediting this project.  

There a few layers to the structure of this project. 

First, there are two contractors involved, R&M Consultants and Southeast Road Builders. The 
proposals are structured with a phased approach. Attached with this memo are 2 proposals from 
Southeast Road Builders and one from R&M Consultants. 

Packet Page Number 13 



-2- 
 

The first layer will be to hand-scale loose rock and break free and remove any potential hazards 
without aggressive action. This is outlined in the first proposal (Phase 1) from Southeast Road 
Builders. The proposal for this phase shows lump sum costs for mobilization and fixed costs and 
consumables along with daily rates for crew time for the other tasks. Their proposal states that it 
is anticipated to be four days for hand scaling (task 2) and two days for the blasting 
expert/manager onsite (task 3). By inputting their assumed number of days multiplied by the daily 
rate for tasks 2 and 3, we can assume a total estimated cost of phase 1 to be $75,280. 

After the hand-scaling is complete, R&M will reassess the rock over hang and determine whether 
or not more aggressive efforts need be taken to secure the rock face. If further rock removal is 
required Southeast Road Builders has provided a proposal for blasting and removing additional 
rock hazards. The proposal for phase 2 is a little clearer with the days included in the quantity for 
tasks 2 and 3. The total estimated cost for phase 2 is $76,580. 

Totaling phase 1 work and phase 2 work gets us to $151,860. Staff recommends a contingency 
of 30% added, for a total cost of work, with contingency, of $197,418. 

Geotechnical expertise shall be provided by R&M Consulting. R&M did the initial assessment of 
the rock face in February 2023. R&M will work with the contractor for the duration of the project 
to provide hazard removal assessment services during the removal process and an assessment 
report to conclusions and recommendations at the completion of the removal effort. Their proposal 
is attached (Latitude 54 Hazard Removal Proposal) and is in the amount of $47,606. 

We have also requested the addition of $7,200 into the project to cover the initial consultation 
done by Southeast Road Builders, which brings the budget amendment request to $252,224. 

ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to approve the budget amendment and fund the project; 
or not approve the funding. Council could also choose to put this through the traditional CMMP 
process, which is not recommended due to the imminent danger to people and property. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: This mitigation will be funded by the general fund. 

LEGAL: There are no immediate legal requirements to this, but failing to address this will likely 
result in future liability to the City. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Ordinance 2023-10. 

PROPOSED MOTION: First reading: I move to introduce Ordinance 2023-10 and schedule it for 
second reading and public hearing on October 10, 2023. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the Staff Recommendation. It is important to shore up 
this cliff face to prevent future damage to people and property. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. SE Road Builders - Phase 1 Proposal 
2. SE Road Builders – Phase 2 Proposal 
3. R&M Consultants, Inc. 

Packet Page Number 14 



HC60 Box 4800
Haines, Ak 99827
PHONE:  907-766-2833
FAX:       907-766-2832

CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE NO.: 134313
BUSINESS LICENSE NO.:  1086571

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE
1 Mobilization L.S. All Req'd $29,000.00

2 Daily Rate - scaling/anchors (Site Development) ea. day $6,495.00

3 Blasting/Matting/Scaling Manager (prep for phase II) ea. day $2,200.00

4 Fixed Costs- (consumables and rentals) L.S. All Req'd $15,900.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF QUOTATION

NOTES: 1 ea. mobilization - in/out 

INCLUSIONS:  
Mobilization Includes crew to/from, freight for all non available materials/supplies from ANCH/ANCH layover
Day rate includes rental vehicle/3 ea. laborers/specialist/hotels/perdiem/equip. operating costs

9 hour day work day anticipated
local support for equipment and available consumables
(Item #3 -Manager will be knowledge of all available resources based upon methods recommended

(matting/blasting/rock bolting/dowels, etc.)
Anchoring system for scaling personnel

EXCLUSIONS:
Authorization for access above site and scaling debris removal by others
Permitting
Performance and Payment Bonding
non daylight work

● This quote may be withdrawn if not signed and returned within 30 days.
● TERMS:  Full payment due within 30 days of invoice, unless defined otherwise via subcontact

A FINANCE CHARGE OF .88% per month (which is an annual percentage rate of 10.5%) will be imposed on any portion
of your account not paid within 30 days after billing date.  

● A service charge of 2.5% will be imposed on all credit card payments
If this proposal meets your approval, please complete and return.  Your signature on one copy returned to us will make this a legal 

contract for the performance of the above work and your acceptance of the terms listed.

Company: Phone No. 

Billing Address:

Authorized Signer:
(printed name)

SIGNATURE:

date:

AMOUNT
$29,000.00

$44,900.00
L.S.(Lump Sum)/TBD(To Be Determined)/ea.(Each)/C.S.(Contingent Sum)/Tn(ton)/c.y.(cubic yard)                 Borough Sales Tax Added Where Applicable

Without scaling incidental areas (away from wedge), we don't anticipate over 4 days of work, - R&M will direct accordingly

$15,900.00

Item #3 - We don't expect this to be over a 2-day task to analyze and provide a risk assessment

Scaling at the direction of R&M Consultants (scaling only task)

PHASE I - Latitude 54 Rockfall Mitigation (scaling only)

OWNER:  - City of Unalaska
DATE:  September 17, 2023

Project:

QUOTATION FOR: 

Unalaska, Alaska   99692

International Port of Dutch Harbor (Unalaska)
Attn: Marc Kielmeyer, Project Engineer

Packet Page Number 15 



HC60 Box 4800
Haines, Ak 99827
PHONE:  907-766-2833
FAX:       907-766-2832

CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE NO.: 134313
BUSINESS LICENSE NO.:  1086571

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE
1 Mobilization* L.S. All Req'd $1,600.00

2 Set-up (matting-secure site for release) 4.0 day $6,495.00

3 Professional Services w/ monitoring 4.0 day $3,200.00

4 Fixed Costs- (consumables, explosives/rentals/matting...) L.S. All Req'd $36,200.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF QUOTATION

NOTES:

Guestimate of 4-days work for wedge only. (netting/drilling/loading/shooting)
See phase I for any scaling or manual rock removal requirements

INCLUSIONS:  
Assumes mats or approved protective netting is available in Unalaska
Day rate includes rental vehicle/3 ea. laborers/specialist/hotels/perdiem/equip. operating costs
         also includes drilling for explosives as directed by specialist
Blasting magazine, blasting supplies, explosives and initiators are readily available for purchase in Unalaska
9 hour day work day anticipated
Local support for equipment and available consumables
Specialist working with R&M Consultants
Seismographs and vibration monitoring

EXCLUSIONS:
Scaling after release of wedge (uncertain of site conditions beyond, behind or above wedge)
Authorization for access above site by others/Clean-up & removal of scaled and rockfall materials
Permitting, Performance and Payment Bonding
Non daylight work

● This quote may be withdrawn if not signed and returned within 30 days.
● TERMS:  Full payment due within 30 days of invoice, unless defined otherwise via subcontract

A FINANCE CHARGE OF .88% per month (which is an annual percentage rate of 10.5%) will be imposed on any portion
of your account not paid within 30 days after billing date.  

● A service charge of 2.5% will be imposed on all credit card payments
If this proposal meets your approval, please complete and return.  Your signature on one copy returned to us will make this a legal 

contract for the performance of the above work and your acceptance of the terms listed.

Company: Phone No. 

Billing Address:

Authorized Signer:
(printed name)

SIGNATURE:

OWNER:  - City of Unalaska
DATE:  September 17, 2023

Project:

QUOTATION FOR: 

Unalaska, Alaska   99692

International Port of Dutch Harbor (Unalaska)

748 Ballyhoo Road
Attn: Marc Kielmeyer, Project Engineer

date:

Latitude 54 Rockfall Mitigation (Wedge Removal Option - Estimate Only)

AMOUNT
$1,600.00

$76,580.00
L.S.(Lump Sum)/TBD(To Be Determined)/ea.(Each)/C.S.(Contingent Sum)/Tn(ton)/c.y.(cubic yard)                 Borough Sales Tax Added Where Applicable

This assumes we have a quick solution and Phase II immediately transitions from Phase I

$25,980.00

$36,200.00

Wedge Work Only

*Mobilization - Assumes men "on-site" and paid in Phase 1 - otherwise approximately $25,200.00)

$12,800.00

Packet Page Number 16 



 

RMCONSULT.COM | 9101 VANGUARD DRIVE, ANCHORAGE, AK 99507 | 907.522.1707 

September 20, 2023                                                                                                                                                      R&M No. 3052.01 

Ms. Peggy McLaughlin                        Via E-mail: pmclaughlin@ci.unalaska.ak.us 
Director 
International Port of Dutch Harbor 
City of Unalaska, Alaska 
 
RE:   Unstable Slope Hazard Removal Assessment Services  

Latitude 54 Building, Dutch Harbor, Alaska 

Dear Ms. McLaughlin, 

R&M Consultants, Inc. (R&M) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal to provide unstable slope hazard removal 

assessment services to the International Port of Dutch Harbor, City of Unalaska (Unalaska) in support of a known unstable 

slope located immediately behind and adjacent to the Latitude 54 building along Ballyhoo Road at the Port of Dutch Harbor. 

We understand that the City of Unalaska is currently in negotiations with Southeast Road Builders to conduct hazard removal 

services consisting of rock scaling and possible rock blasting services at the project site. The intent of this effort is to reduce 

the hazard and risk that the unstable slope poses to the Latitude 54 facility. At the request of the Port and the City, R&M is 

providing this fee estimate to provide hazard removal assessment services during the removal process and an assessment 

report with conclusions and recommendations at the completion of the removal effort.  

SCOPE OF GEOTECHNICAL HAZARD REMOVAL ASSESMENT SERVICES 

R&M will provide the city with on-site geologist/geotechnical engineer with experience in monitoring unstable slope hazard 
removal operations. During removal operations, the R&M representative will remain on-site to monitor progress and evaluate 
the slope for any emerging or additional hazards. Of particular concern will be monitoring removal operations to ensure that 
no overhanging hazards remain and that all areas of differential erosion are addressed. Our scope of work is defined in the 
following tasks. 

• Task 1 Report of Hazard Removal Construction Objectives.    

o R&M will prepare a report that defines objectives and general geometrics of the hazard removal for use as 
a guide during construction.  

o Contractor will be fully responsible for means and methods to execute the work and for executing the work 
in a safe manner and without damage to existing facilities.   

Packet Page Number 17 



Unstable Slope Hazard Removal Assessment Services Estimate – Latitude 54 Building 
Page 2 of 3 

 

• Tasks 2 and 3 Rock Scaling and Rock Blasting Support.  These tasks include on-site monitoring during construction 
activities and to assess stability and hazard removal.  

• Task 4 Hazard Assessment Reporting.  Once hazard removal operations are completed, R&M will prepare a hazard 
removal assessment report which will include: 

o Summaries of site visit activities, Daily Reports, research, observations, and rock mechanics data; 

o A discussion of any remaining slope stability concerns and underlying failure mechanisms; 

o General conclusions regarding any remaining interpreted slope stability hazards, available mitigation 
options, and recommendations for mitigation and/or additional investigation; and     

o A photograph log with descriptions depicting conditions referenced in report text.    

Field personnel will be under the direct supervision of a Certified Professional Geologist or Professional Civil/Geotechnical 
Engineer. All geotechnical findings, conclusions, and recommendations will be prepared under the supervision of a 
geotechnical engineer registered as a Professional Civil Engineer in the State of Alaska.  

SCHEDULE 

R&M can be able to perform the hazard removal assessment within approximately two weeks following notice-to-proceed. 
The report will be submitted within three weeks following completion of field work.  

ASSUMPTIONS AND CONDITIONS 

R&M’s proposal and fee are based on acknowledgement that: 

• Both the rock-scaling assessment and rock-blasting assessment portions are based on 4-day completion periods. 
Should conditions warrant additional time on-site, R&M can provide the City with additional fee estimates to 
complete any increased level of effort.  

• Hazard removal assessment activities are conducted prior to significant snowfall and freeze-up.  

PRICE 

R&M will provide the hazard removal assessment services on a Time and Expenses basis with a not-to-exceed price of 
$47,606 In this estimate, we have planned for approximately 221 labor hours, and will not exceed that without prior 
authorization.   

 

 

 

 

Packet Page Number 18 



Unstable Slope Hazard Removal Assessment Services Estimate – Latitude 54 Building 
Page 3 of 3 

 

CLOSURE 

We thank you for the opportunity to propose on this hazard removal assessment effort, and hope our response meets your 
expectations. Please do not hesitate to contact me at your convenience if you have questions or require additional 
information. 

Sincerely, 

R&M CONSULTANTS, INC. ACCEPTED BY: 

  

Aaron T. Banks, C.P.G.  

Senior Geologist  

Attachments: Detailed Cost Estimate (5-pages) 

 
 

 

Packet Page Number 19 



Firm:

Client:

Task Discipline Labor Expenses Sub-Contractors Task Totals Cost Basis

1 ES 5,676.00$             -$                           -$                           5,676.00$             T&E

2 ES 17,622.00$           4,615.80$             -$                           22,237.80$           T&E

3 ES 11,160.00$           1,692.60$             -$                           12,852.60$           T&E

4 ES 6,840.00$             -$                           -$                           6,840.00$             T&E

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

Project Title:
Date:

9/20/2023

Task Description

R&M

City of Unalaska
Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

Hazard Removal Construction Objective Planning

Rock Scaling Support

Total Project Cost Estimate:

Rock Blasting Support

Hazard Assessement Reporting

47,606$                                                  

Packet Page Number 20 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
Work Planning 2 12 16

0 2 12 16 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    492.00$             2,304.00$          2,880.00$          -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

-$                         
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 5,676.00$          
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% -$                         
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

1 TASK DESCRIPTION: Hazard Removal Construction Objective Planning DATE: 9/20/2023

TOTAL LABOR HOURS

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

SUB-TASK DESCRIPTION
Contract 
Manager

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task
FIRM:

* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 
LABOR COSTS ($) 

EXPENSES COMMENTS
ITEM(S) 1) R&M will prepare a report that defines objectives and general geometrics of the 

hazard removal for use as a guide during construction. 

FP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 21 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
2.1 Project Management and Coordination 1 4 2

2.2 Mobilization/Demobilization 4 24

2.3 Field Investigation 4 8 48

0 5 16 74 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    1,230.00$          3,072.00$          13,320.00$        -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

2.3 RT between ANC and DUT 1 1,978.00$          1,978.00$          
2.3 Per Diem (Lodging, Meals, Incidentals) 6 283.00$             1,698.00$          
2.3 Vehicle Rental and Fuel 6 120.00$             720.00$             

4,396$                
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 17,622.00$        
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% 4,615.80$          
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

2 TASK DESCRIPTION: Rock Scaling Support DATE: 9/20/2023

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

TOTAL LABOR HOURS

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)
Contract 
ManagerSUB-TASK DESCRIPTION

FIRM:

* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 
LABOR COSTS ($) 

EXPENSES
ITEM(S)

COMMENTS
1) Assumes 4 days of rock scaling support. Additional days on site will be billed at a 
rate of 12 hours per day plus per diem.
2) A site visit will be made by a Senior Geologist or Geotechnical Engineer to monitor 
hazard removal operations. 
3) Assumes no delays due to weather/travel. Should a delay occur, we will negotiate 
with the City of Unalaska for an equitable resolution. Unforeseen standby will be billed 
at a rate of 8 hours per day plus per diem.

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task

FP FPPE T&E CPFFFP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 22 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
3.1 Field Investigation 4 8 48

0 4 8 48 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    984.00$             1,536.00$          8,640.00$          -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

2.1 Per Diem (Lodging, Meals, Incidentals) 4 283.00$             1,132.00$          
2.1 Vehicle Rental and Fuel 4 120.00$             480.00$             

1,720$                
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 11,160.00$        
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% 1,692.60$          
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

3 TASK DESCRIPTION: Rock Scaling Support DATE: 9/20/2023

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

TOTAL LABOR HOURS

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)
Contract 
ManagerSUB-TASK DESCRIPTION

FIRM:

* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 
LABOR COSTS ($) 

EXPENSES
ITEM(S)

COMMENTS
1) Assumes 4 days of rock blasting support. Additional days on site will be billed at a 
rate of 12 hours per day plus per diem.
2) Mobilization/demobilization costs are accounted for under Task 1.
3) A site visit will be made by a Senior Geologist or Geotechnical Engineer to monitor 
hazard removal operations. 
4) Unforeseen standby will be billed at a rate of 8 hours per day plus per diem.

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task

FP FPPE T&E CPFFFP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 23 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
Reporting 4 8 24

0 4 8 24 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    984.00$             1,536.00$          4,320.00$          -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

108$                   
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 6,840.00$          
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% -$                         
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

TOTAL LABOR HOURS
* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 

LABOR COSTS ($) 
EXPENSES COMMENTS

FIRM:

ITEM(S) 1) A letter report will be prepared detailing site conditions, conclusion, and 
recommendations. 

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

SUB-TASK DESCRIPTION
Contract 
Manager

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

4 TASK DESCRIPTION: Rock Blasting Support DATE: 9/20/2023

FP FPPE T&E CPFFFP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 24 



 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Roger Blakeley, PCR Director 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 26, 2023 
Re: Ordinance 2023-10: Creating FY24 Budget Amendment #1 

To receive $13,090.59 from the Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association to pay an 
instructor for the Senior Exercise Program 

 
 
SUMMARY: Ordinance 2023-10 accepts $13,090.59 to fund the Senior Exercise Program. 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: In 2019, Council approved a similar request for $7,000 to start 
the program. The program was successful, with funding from Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association 
(APIA). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the inability to offer regular instructor led classes in 
FY21 this funding request was not made in 2020. Council approved a similar budget amendment 
for $7,200 in FY22 and $10,000 in FY23 which allowed the Department of Parks, Culture (PCR) 
to continue offering this programming in partnership with APIA.    
BACKGROUND: APIA partnered with PCR to develop a senior exercise program. APIA received 
a grant to fund the program and works with PCR to provide an instructor. PCR requests a budget 
amendment to allocate an additional $13,090.59 to 01023251-51200 (Temporary Employees) to 
hire the instructor for this program. This amount reflects the amount of money APIA received to 
fund the personnel portion of the program. 
PCR will invoice APIA for the hours worked by the instructor and we will receive reimbursement 
for those hours up to the $13,090.59 outlined in the APIA grant. The result is $0 net loss to the 
city, and gives PCR the ability to provide a much-needed senior exercise class in cooperation 
with APIA. The program will end when the grant funds are exhausted. 
DISCUSSION: Staff requests $13,090.59 to pay the Instructor for the Senior Exercise Class held 
up to three times per week.  Without this grant funding PCR would not be able to offer this senior 
exercise program to the community.   
 ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to approve the budget amendment and fund the program; 
or not approve the funding and cancel the program.  
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: None 
LEGAL:  None 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Ordinance 2023-10. 
PROPOSED MOTION: First reading: I move to introduce Ordinance 2023-10 and schedule it for 
second reading and public hearing on October 10, 2023. 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the Staff Recommendation. 
ATTACHMENTS: None 

Packet Page Number 25 



- 1 - 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Ben Knowles, Fire Chief 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 26, 2023 
Re: Ordinance 2023-10: Creating FY24 Budget Amendment #1 
 To receiving funding from State of Alaska Department of Health to update life-

saving equipment and increase data sharing capabilities with IFHS 
 
 
SUMMARY: Accepting grant funding from the State of Alaska, Department of Health, Division of 
Public Health – Division of Healthy and Equitable Communities, in the sum of $78,500. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: None 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: The Unalaska Fire Department continues to progress its 
level of pre-hospital emergency care for the community by continually updating equipment and 
services to the highest level of industry standards. Augmenting funding has been a priority to 
ensure adequate funding and keeping a balanced budget. Recently, the fire department was 
awarded a no-match grant from the State of Alaska, Department of Health, Division of Public 
Health – Division of Healthy and Equitable Communities, in the sum of $78,500.  

This is a no-match grant and will allow the fire department to upgrade much needed life-saving 
equipment and increase our data sharing capabilities with the IFHS clinic. These funds will also 
support the Mobile Integrated Healthcare pilot program. The State will be invoiced directly for 
purchases.  

 

Packet Page Number 26 



- 2 - 
 

 
   Est. Total: $78,500 

 

ALTERNATIVES: Council could choose to not accept the grant funding.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: None 

LEGAL: None. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval.  

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to introduce Ordinance 2023-09 and schedule it for public hearing 
and second reading on October 10, 2023. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I concur with the Staff Recommendation.  

Packet Page Number 27 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 1

CITY OF UNALASKA

REPORT TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL

AUDIT WRAP UP: 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022

Packet Page Number 28 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 2

QUICK ACCESS TO THE 
FULL REPORT

Contents

The following communication was prepared as part of our audit, has 
consequential limitations, and is intended solely for the information 
and use of those charged with governance (e.g., Board of Directors 
and Audit Committee) and, if appropriate, management of the 
Entity, and is not intended and should not be used by anyone other 
than these specified parties. 

INTRODUCTION 3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 4

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 10

ADDITIONAL REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 13

Packet Page Number 29 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 3

BDO USA, P.C., a Virginia professional service corporation, is the U.S. member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by 
guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. BDO is the brand name for the BDO network 
and for each of the BDO Member Firms.

Welcome
October 10, 2023
The Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Unalaska

Professional standards require us to communicate with you regarding matters related to the
audit, that are, in our professional judgment, significant and relevant to your
responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. On September 13, 2022 we
presented an overview of our plan for the audit of the financial statements of City of
Unalaska, (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, including a summary of
our overall objectives for the audit, and the nature, scope, and timing of the planned audit
work.

This communication is intended to elaborate on the significant findings from our audit,
including our views on the qualitative aspects of the City’s accounting practices and
policies, management’s judgments and estimates, financial statement disclosures, and
other required matters.

We are pleased to be of service to the City and look forward to meeting with you to discuss
our audit findings, as well as other matters that may be of interest to you, and to answer
any questions you might have.

Respectfully, 

JOY MERRINER
Assurance Practice Leader
907-770-2257 / jmerriner@bdo.com

KELLY MAYES
Senior Manager
909-646-7302/ kmayes@bdo.com

Packet Page Number 30 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 4

Executive 
Summary

Packet Page Number 31 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 5

Status of Our Audit

We have substantially completed our audit of the financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022. Our audit was conducted in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
This audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities.

 The objective of our audit was to obtain reasonable - not absolute - assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatements.

 The scope of the work performed was substantially the same as that described to you in our earlier Audit Planning communications. We issued unmodified
opinions on the basic financial statements and released our report on October 4, 2023.

 We issued our report on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards on October 4, 2023.

 We issued an unmodified opinion on the City’s Single Audit report, including the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) on October 4, 2023.

 In planning and performing our audit of the SEFA, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and
material effect on its major federal program(s) to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with GAS and Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.

 Our responsibility for other information in documents containing the City’s audited financial statements does not extend beyond the financial information
identified in the audit report, and we are not required to perform procedures to corroborate such other information. However, in accordance with professional
standards, we have read the information included by the City and considered whether such information, or the manner of its presentation, was materially
inconsistent with its presentation in the financial statements. Our responsibility also includes calling to management’s attention any information that we
believe is a material misstatement of fact. We have not identified any material inconsistencies or concluded there are any material misstatements of facts in
the other information that management has chosen not to correct.

 All records and information requested by BDO were freely available for our inspection.

Packet Page Number 32 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 6

Results of the Audit

The following summarizes the more significant required communications related to our
audit concerning the City’s accounting practices, policies, and estimates:

The City’s significant accounting practices and policies are those included in Note 1 to the
financial statements. These accounting practices and policies are appropriate, comply with
generally accepted accounting principles and industry practice, were consistently applied,
and are adequately described within Note 1 to the financial statements.

 A summary of recently issued accounting pronouncements is included in Note 6 to the
City’s financial statements.

 In 2022, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases – Effective for the year-ended
June 30, 2022. This statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain
lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases.
This Statement establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational
principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. The City did
discovery of all active leases and used materiality policies to determine whether they
applied to GASB 87, then accounted for those that qualified accordingly.

 There were no other changes in significant accounting policies and practices during 2022.

Significant estimates are those that require management’s most difficult, subjective, or
complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effects of
matters that are inherently uncertain. None of the estimates identified have been
considered significant in the current year. The City’s accounting estimates, including a
description of management’s processes and assumptions used in development of the
estimates, are disclosed in Note 1 of the financial statements.

ACCOUNTING PRACTICES, POLICIES, AND ESTIMATES

 Management did not make any significant changes to the processes or significant
assumptions used to develop accounting estimates in 2022.

The methods used to account for significant or unusual transactions, and related
disclosures, are considered appropriate.

Accounting Estimates

Net Pension/OPEB Liabilities - For purposes of measuring the City’s OPEB 
liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the Alaska Public Employees Retirement System’s (PERS) OPEB 
Plans and additions to/deductions from the PERS’s OPEB Plans’ fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PERS.

Leases – The City used a discount rate of 2% to discount the expected future 
payments for leases accounted for under GASB Statement No. 87 when the rate 
implicit in the lease was not readily available. 

Fair Value Measurements - The City categorizes its fair value measurements 
within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Insured Liabilities - The City currently participates in the Alaska Public Entity 
Insurance (APEI) pool, which covers property and contents, general, auto 
liability, law enforcement legal liability, errors and omissions, earthquake and 
flood, marine, and workers compensation

Landfill Closure Liability – Based on engineering studies and estimated inflation 
factors; accrued based on landfill usage over time.

Packet Page Number 33 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 7

Results of the Audit

QUALITY OF THE City’s FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are available to discuss the quality of the City’s financial reporting, to include:

Qualitative Aspects 
of Significant 

Accounting Policies 
and Practices

Our Conclusions 
Regarding Significant 

Accounting 
Estimates

Significant Unusual 
Transactions

Financial Statement 
Presentation and 

Disclosures

New Accounting 
Pronouncements

Alternative 
Accounting 
Treatments

No significant 
changes

None identified None identified No significant 
changes

Adopted GASB 87, 
Leases

None identified

Packet Page Number 34 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 8

Results of the Audit

CORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS

Refer below for the schedule of corrected misstatements:

Packet Page Number 35 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 9

Results of the Audit

UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS

Refer below for the schedule of uncorrected misstatements:

Packet Page Number 36 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 10

Internal Control 
Over Financial 
Reporting

Packet Page Number 37 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 11

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for
designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion(s) on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

We are required to communicate, in writing, to those charged with governance all material weaknesses and significant deficiencies that have been identified in the
City’s internal control over financial reporting. The definitions of control deficiency, significant deficiency and material weakness follow:

Category Definition

Control Deficiency A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.

Significant Deficiency A deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Material Weakness A deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the City ’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Please refer to the Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs for internal control items reported as material weaknesses.

Packet Page Number 38 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 12

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have communicated to the management of the City control deficiencies and provided suggestions for improvement of those deficiencies that were identified as
a result of our audit that we did not consider to be material weaknesses nor significant deficiencies.

Control Deficiency Comments Recommendation

Capital Asset Schedule 
Reconciliation

The loss on disposal of capital assets was not
reconciled to the underlying books and records
resulting in a corrected misstatement.

We recommend the capital asset reconciliation schedule to be agreed to the
underlying books and records during the review and approval process.

Packet Page Number 39 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 13

Additional Required 
Communications

Packet Page Number 40 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 14

Other Required Communications

Following is a summary of other required items, along with specific discussion points as they pertain to the City:

Requirement Discussion Point

Significant changes to planned audit 
strategy or significant risks initially 
identified

There were no significant changes to the planned audit strategy or significant risks initially identified and previously 
communicated to those charged with governance as part of our Audit Planning communications.

Obtain information from those 
charged with governance relevant to 
the audit

There were no matters noted relevant to the audit, including, but not limited to: violations or possible violations of laws 
or regulations; risks of material misstatement, including fraud risks; or tips or complaints regarding the City’s financial 
reporting that we were made aware of as a result of our inquiry of those charged with governance. 

Nature and extent of specialized 
skills or knowledge needed related to 
significant risks

There were no specialized skills or knowledge needed, outside of the core engagement team, to perform the planned 
audit procedures or evaluate audit results related to significant risks.

Consultations with other accountants

We are not aware of any consultations about accounting or auditing matters between management and other 
independent public accountants. Nor are we aware of opinions obtained by management from other independent public 
accountants on the application of requirements of an applicable financial reporting framework.

If applicable, significant matters 
identified by component auditors

During the component auditor’s procedures, there were no significant matters identified that were deemed necessary to 
bring to group management’s attention.

Significant findings and issues arising 
during the audit in connection with 
the City’s related parties

We have evaluated whether the identified related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately 
identified, accounted for, and disclosed and whether the effects of the related party relationships and transactions, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, prevent the financial statements from achieving fair presentation. 

Packet Page Number 41 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 15

Requirement Discussion Point
Significant findings or issues arising 
during the audit that were discussed, 
or were the subject of 
correspondence, with management

There were no significant findings or issues arising during the audit that were discussed, or were the subject of 
correspondence, with management, other than those reported on the Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.. 

Disagreements with management There were no disagreements with management about matters, whether or not satisfactorily resolved, that individually
or in aggregate could be significant to the City’s financial statements or to our auditor’s report.

Significant difficulties encountered 
during the audit

There were delays related to the adoption of GASB 87, Leases, and closing of certain accounts in the books and records.
There were no other significant difficulties encountered during the audit.

Matters that are difficult or 
contentious for which the auditor 
consulted outside the engagement 
team

There were no difficult or contentious matters that we consulted with others outside the engagement team that we
reasonably determined to be relevant to those charged with governance regarding their oversight of the financial
reporting process.

If applicable, other matters 
significant to the oversight of the 
City’s financial reporting process, 
including complaints or concerns 
regarding accounting or auditing 
matters

There are no other matters that we consider significant to the oversight of the City’s financial reporting process that 
have not been previously communicated. 

Representations requested from 
management Please refer to the management representation letter.

Other Required Communications

Following is a summary of other required items, along with specific discussion points as they pertain to the City:

Packet Page Number 42 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 16

Independence

Our engagement letter to you dated July 19, 2022, describes our
responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and certain
regulatory authorities and Government Auditing Standards with regard to
independence and the performance of our services. This letter also stipulates
the responsibilities of the City with respect to independence as agreed to by
the City. Please refer to that letter for further information.

Packet Page Number 43 



CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP JUNE 30, 2022 / BDO USA, P.C. / 17

Audit Firm System of Quality Management

An audit firm’s system of quality control (aka system of quality management) is essential to how the firm 
conducts audits and is in place to protect investors, shareholders and other users of financial statements.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT STANDARDS

In June 2022, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board (ASB) issued the following interrelated standards on audit 
quality management (collectively, the QM standards), which are designed to improve a CPA firm’s risk 
assessment and audit quality. The effective date of the QM standards is December 15, 2025. 

We will continue to provide you with updates 
on our progress. Currently, you may find 
discussion of BDO’s system of quality control 
within our annual Audit Quality Reports, the 
most recent of which is accessible here.

Statement on Quality Management 
Standards (SQMS) No. 1

A Firm’s System of Quality 
Management

Statement on Quality Management 
Standards (SQMS) No. 2

Engagement Quality Reviews

Statement on Auditing Standards 
(SAS) No. 146

Quality Management for an 
Engagement Conducted in 
Accordance With Generally Accepted 
Auditing Standards

BDO has assessed the requirements of the QM standards and has analyzed our firm’s current system of quality 
management to identify changes and improvements necessary for compliance. This includes the identification of 
quality objectives, quality risks and the assessment of those quality risks, and responses to address those risks. 
We are further working with BDO Global to appropriately integrate processes deployed at a global level into our 
firm’s system of quality management. 

Packet Page Number 44 

https://www.bdo.com/services/assurance/audit-quality/audit-quality
https://www.bdo.com/insights/assurance/corporate-governance/2022-2021-bdo-audit-quality-report
https://www.bdo.com/insights/assurance/corporate-governance/2022-2021-bdo-audit-quality-report
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/aicpa-statement-on-quality-management-standards-no-1
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/aicpa-statement-on-quality-management-standards-no-1
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/aicpa-statement-on-quality-management-standards-no-2
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/aicpa-statement-on-quality-management-standards-no-2
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/aicpa-statement-on-auditing-standards-no-146
https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/aicpa-statement-on-auditing-standards-no-146


CITY OF UNALASKA AUDIT WRAP UP [BALANCE SHEET DATE] / BDO USA, P.C. / 18

At BDO, our purpose is helping people thrive, every day. Together, we are focused on delivering exceptional and sustainable outcomes — for our people, our clients and our communities. Across the U.S., and 
in over 160 countries through our global organization, BDO professionals provide assurance, tax and advisory services for a diverse range of clients.

BDO is the brand name for the BDO network and for each of the BDO Member Firms. 

BDO USA, P.C., a Virginia professional service corporation, is the U.S. member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of 
independent member firms. www.bdo.com.

Material discussed in this publication is meant to provide general information and should not be acted on without professional advice tailored to your needs.

© 2023 BDO USA, P.C. All rights reserved.

Packet Page Number 45 

https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bdo.com%2F&data=05%7C01%7CARojik%40bdo.com%7C2989473ef07a4da7da0408db78af7484%7C6e57fc1a413e405091da7d2dc8543e3c%7C0%7C0%7C638236467188216055%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C7000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=hbjZsnOUlX4isKoBhWFnGrOgVe0IhqP%2BBfUwmG86E6M%3D&reserved=0


Packet Page Number 46 



Packet Page Number 47 



Packet Page Number 48 



Packet Page Number 49 



Packet Page Number 50 



Packet Page Number 51 



Packet Page Number 52 



Packet Page Number 53 



Packet Page Number 54 



Packet Page Number 55 



Packet Page Number 56 



Packet Page Number 57 



Packet Page Number 58 



Packet Page Number 59 



Packet Page Number 60 



Packet Page Number 61 



Packet Page Number 62 



Packet Page Number 63 



Packet Page Number 64 



Packet Page Number 65 



Packet Page Number 66 



Packet Page Number 67 



Packet Page Number 68 



Packet Page Number 69 



Packet Page Number 70 



Packet Page Number 71 



Packet Page Number 72 



Packet Page Number 73 



Packet Page Number 74 



Packet Page Number 75 



Packet Page Number 76 



Packet Page Number 77 



Packet Page Number 78 



Packet Page Number 79 



Packet Page Number 80 



Packet Page Number 81 



Packet Page Number 82 



Packet Page Number 83 



Packet Page Number 84 



Packet Page Number 85 



Packet Page Number 86 



Packet Page Number 87 



Packet Page Number 88 



Packet Page Number 89 



Packet Page Number 90 



Packet Page Number 91 



Packet Page Number 92 



Packet Page Number 93 



Packet Page Number 94 



Packet Page Number 95 



Packet Page Number 96 



Packet Page Number 97 



Packet Page Number 98 



Packet Page Number 99 



Packet Page Number 100 



Packet Page Number 101 



Packet Page Number 102 



Packet Page Number 103 



Packet Page Number 104 



Packet Page Number 105 



Packet Page Number 106 



Packet Page Number 107 



Packet Page Number 108 



Packet Page Number 109 



Packet Page Number 110 



Packet Page Number 111 



Packet Page Number 112 



Packet Page Number 113 



Packet Page Number 114 



Packet Page Number 115 



Packet Page Number 116 



Packet Page Number 117 



Packet Page Number 118 



Packet Page Number 119 



Packet Page Number 120 



Packet Page Number 121 



Packet Page Number 122 



Packet Page Number 123 



Packet Page Number 124 



Packet Page Number 125 



Packet Page Number 126 



Packet Page Number 127 



Packet Page Number 128 



Packet Page Number 129 



Packet Page Number 130 



Packet Page Number 131 



Packet Page Number 132 



Packet Page Number 133 



Packet Page Number 134 



Packet Page Number 135 



Packet Page Number 136 



Packet Page Number 137 



Packet Page Number 138 



Packet Page Number 139 



Packet Page Number 140 



Packet Page Number 141 



Packet Page Number 142 



Packet Page Number 143 



Packet Page Number 144 



Packet Page Number 145 



Packet Page Number 146 



Packet Page Number 147 



Packet Page Number 148 



Packet Page Number 149 



Packet Page Number 150 



Packet Page Number 151 



Packet Page Number 152 



Packet Page Number 153 



Packet Page Number 154 



Packet Page Number 155 



Packet Page Number 156 



Packet Page Number 157 



Packet Page Number 158 



Packet Page Number 159 



Packet Page Number 160 



Packet Page Number 161 



Packet Page Number 162 



Packet Page Number 163 



Packet Page Number 164 



Packet Page Number 165 



Packet Page Number 166 



Packet Page Number 167 



Packet Page Number 168 



Packet Page Number 169 



Packet Page Number 170 



Packet Page Number 171 



Packet Page Number 172 



Packet Page Number 173 



Packet Page Number 174 



Packet Page Number 175 



Packet Page Number 176 



Packet Page Number 177 



Packet Page Number 178 



Packet Page Number 179 



Packet Page Number 180 



Packet Page Number 181 



Packet Page Number 182 



Packet Page Number 183 



Packet Page Number 184 



Packet Page Number 185 



Packet Page Number 186 



Packet Page Number 187 



Packet Page Number 188 



Packet Page Number 189 



Packet Page Number 190 



Packet Page Number 191 



Packet Page Number 192 



Packet Page Number 193 



Packet Page Number 194 



Packet Page Number 195 



Packet Page Number 196 



Packet Page Number 197 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-39 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH R&M CONSULTANTS, INC. FOR ASSESSMENT 
SERVICES FOR THE EMERGENCY CLIFF FACE STABILIZATON BALLYHOO ROAD 
PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $47,606  

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has determined the cliff face behind the Latitude 54 building on 
Ballyhoo Road to be a significant hazard to property and to human life; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska identified the hazard after a significant weather event and 
contracted with R&M Consultants, Inc. (R&M) to provide initial risk assessment services; and 

WHEREAS, R&M concluded that the cliff face requires mitigation to stabilize the cliff face; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska created an emergency project and the City Council funded the 
project; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska worked with R&M to develop a plan for mitigation of the cliff face 
that includes reassessing the site throughout the project; and 

WHEREAS, R&M is qualified to provide this oversite and reassessment; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has negotiated a fair and reasonable price for services to be 
provided. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City 
Manager to enter into an agreement with R&M Consultants, Inc. for assessment services for the 
Cliff Face Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project in the amount of $47,606. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 
10, 2023. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 198 



-1- 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Peggy McLaughlin, Port Director 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  October 10, 2023 
Re:  Resolution 2023-39 and Resolution 2023-40 
 
 

SUMMARY: The adoption of Resolution 2023-39 will authorize the City Manager to sign an 
agreement with R&M Consulting Inc. in the amount of $47,606 for on-going assessment during 
the rock stabilization project. Resolution 2023-40 will authorize the City Manager to sign an 
agreement with Southeast Roadbuilders in the amount of $151,860 for the stabilization of the cliff 
face at the Latitude 54 building on Ballyhoo Road.  

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: On September 26, 2023, Council had first reading of a budget 
amendment for this project, Ordinance 2023-10, and advanced it to public hearing and second 
reading tonight. 

BACKGROUND: In December of 2022 a severe storm caused community-wide flooding and mud 
and rock slides. These hazards included landslides and rock fall on and in the vicinity of parcel 
01-09-200 on Ballyhoo Road. Once the water had receded, large rock falls continued. A significant 
threat was identified on Ballyhoo Road parcel 01-09-200 in the form of a large overhanging rock 
wedge with a potential slip plane. A similar rock fell in 2014 and caused damage to the warehouse 
on the same parcel. Ultimately, the City was responsible for approximately 25% of the damages 
in the amount of $315,000.  

DISCUSSION: The emergency funding was requested through Ordinance 2023-10, FY24 Budget 
Amendment #1. The emergency funding was approved based on the contracts that are presented 
in Resolutions 2023-39 and 2023-40. The authorization of these funds will allow the project to 
begin.  

The threat of rock falls still exists, and property and human safety are at imminent risk. It is 
anticipated that the freeze and thaw cycles of winter could provoke the rock wedge to break loose. 
Weather is not the only risk. In June 2023, a forklift-sized rock fell from underneath wedge and 
along the slip plane. It is clear that action needs to be taken, and taken before we hit winter 
weather later this year. 

R&M Consultants, Inc. (R&M) conducted the first assessment in February 2023 and provided the 
City with names of contractors with hand scaling and rock anchoring expertise. We contacted 
each of those companies and had one response from Southeast Roadbuilders. We are 
considering this an emergency project and consequently are doing our due diligence to avoid sole 
sourcing, but also understand the urgency in expediting this project.  

There a few layers to the structure of this project. 

There are two contractors involved, R&M and Southeast Roadbuilders. The proposals are 
structured with a phased approach. Attached with this memo are two proposals from Southeast 
Roadbuilders and one from R&M. 

Packet Page Number 199 



-2- 
 

The first layer will be to hand-scale loose rock and break free and remove any potential hazards 
without aggressive action. This is outlined in the first proposal (Phase 1) from Southeast 
Roadbuilders. The proposal for this phase shows lump sum costs for mobilization and fixed costs 
and consumables along with daily rates for crew time for the other tasks. Their proposal states 
that it is anticipated to be four days for hand scaling (task 2) and two days for the blasting 
expert/manager onsite (task 3). By inputting their assumed number of days multiplied by the daily 
rate for tasks 2 and 3, we can assume a total estimated cost of phase 1 to be $75,280. 

After the hand-scaling is complete, R&M will reassess the rock over hang and determine whether 
or not more aggressive efforts need be taken to secure the rock face. If further rock removal is 
required, Southeast Roadbuilders has provided a proposal for blasting and removing additional 
rock hazards. The proposal for phase 2 is a little clearer with the days included in the quantity for 
tasks 2 and 3. The total estimated cost for phase 2 is $76,580. 

Totaling phase 1 work and phase 2 work gets us to $151,860. Staff recommends a contingency 
of 30% be added, for a total cost of work, with contingency, of $197,418. 

Geotechnical expertise shall be provided by R&M. R&M did the initial assessment of the rock face 
in February 2023. R&M will work with the contractor for the duration of the project to provide 
hazard removal assessment services during the removal process and an assessment report with 
conclusions and recommendations at the completion of the removal effort. R&M’s proposal is 
attached and is in the amount of $47,606. 

Weather permitting, the project is estimated to be completed in 8-10 days. 

ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to approve the resolutions; or not to approve the 
resolutions. Council could also choose to put this through the traditional CMMP process, which is 
not recommended due to the imminent danger to people and property. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The total cost of this project including contingency is $245,024 and 
is funded by the General Fund. 

LEGAL: There are no immediate legal requirements to this, but failing to address this will likely 
result in future liability to the City. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-39 and Resolution 
2023-40. 

PROPOSED MOTION: Separate motions will be needed for each resolution: 

I move to adopt Resolution 2023-39. 

I move to adopt Resolution 2023-40. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the Staff Recommendation. It is important to shore up 
this cliff face to prevent future damage to people and property. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Southeast Roadbuilders – Phase 1 Proposal 
2. Southeast Roadbuilders – Phase 2 Proposal 
3. Proposal from R&M Consultants, Inc. 

Packet Page Number 200 



 

RMCONSULT.COM | 9101 VANGUARD DRIVE, ANCHORAGE, AK 99507 | 907.522.1707 

September 20, 2023                                                                                                                                                      R&M No. 3052.01 

Ms. Peggy McLaughlin                        Via E-mail: pmclaughlin@ci.unalaska.ak.us 
Director 
International Port of Dutch Harbor 
City of Unalaska, Alaska 
 
RE:   Unstable Slope Hazard Removal Assessment Services  

Latitude 54 Building, Dutch Harbor, Alaska 

Dear Ms. McLaughlin, 

R&M Consultants, Inc. (R&M) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal to provide unstable slope hazard removal 

assessment services to the International Port of Dutch Harbor, City of Unalaska (Unalaska) in support of a known unstable 

slope located immediately behind and adjacent to the Latitude 54 building along Ballyhoo Road at the Port of Dutch Harbor. 

We understand that the City of Unalaska is currently in negotiations with Southeast Road Builders to conduct hazard removal 

services consisting of rock scaling and possible rock blasting services at the project site. The intent of this effort is to reduce 

the hazard and risk that the unstable slope poses to the Latitude 54 facility. At the request of the Port and the City, R&M is 

providing this fee estimate to provide hazard removal assessment services during the removal process and an assessment 

report with conclusions and recommendations at the completion of the removal effort.  

SCOPE OF GEOTECHNICAL HAZARD REMOVAL ASSESMENT SERVICES 

R&M will provide the city with on-site geologist/geotechnical engineer with experience in monitoring unstable slope hazard 
removal operations. During removal operations, the R&M representative will remain on-site to monitor progress and evaluate 
the slope for any emerging or additional hazards. Of particular concern will be monitoring removal operations to ensure that 
no overhanging hazards remain and that all areas of differential erosion are addressed. Our scope of work is defined in the 
following tasks. 

• Task 1 Report of Hazard Removal Construction Objectives.    

o R&M will prepare a report that defines objectives and general geometrics of the hazard removal for use as 
a guide during construction.  

o Contractor will be fully responsible for means and methods to execute the work and for executing the work 
in a safe manner and without damage to existing facilities.   

Packet Page Number 201 



Unstable Slope Hazard Removal Assessment Services Estimate – Latitude 54 Building 
Page 2 of 3 

 

• Tasks 2 and 3 Rock Scaling and Rock Blasting Support.  These tasks include on-site monitoring during construction 
activities and to assess stability and hazard removal.  

• Task 4 Hazard Assessment Reporting.  Once hazard removal operations are completed, R&M will prepare a hazard 
removal assessment report which will include: 

o Summaries of site visit activities, Daily Reports, research, observations, and rock mechanics data; 

o A discussion of any remaining slope stability concerns and underlying failure mechanisms; 

o General conclusions regarding any remaining interpreted slope stability hazards, available mitigation 
options, and recommendations for mitigation and/or additional investigation; and     

o A photograph log with descriptions depicting conditions referenced in report text.    

Field personnel will be under the direct supervision of a Certified Professional Geologist or Professional Civil/Geotechnical 
Engineer. All geotechnical findings, conclusions, and recommendations will be prepared under the supervision of a 
geotechnical engineer registered as a Professional Civil Engineer in the State of Alaska.  

SCHEDULE 

R&M can be able to perform the hazard removal assessment within approximately two weeks following notice-to-proceed. 
The report will be submitted within three weeks following completion of field work.  

ASSUMPTIONS AND CONDITIONS 

R&M’s proposal and fee are based on acknowledgement that: 

• Both the rock-scaling assessment and rock-blasting assessment portions are based on 4-day completion periods. 
Should conditions warrant additional time on-site, R&M can provide the City with additional fee estimates to 
complete any increased level of effort.  

• Hazard removal assessment activities are conducted prior to significant snowfall and freeze-up.  

PRICE 

R&M will provide the hazard removal assessment services on a Time and Expenses basis with a not-to-exceed price of 
$47,606 In this estimate, we have planned for approximately 221 labor hours, and will not exceed that without prior 
authorization.   

 

 

 

 

Packet Page Number 202 



Unstable Slope Hazard Removal Assessment Services Estimate – Latitude 54 Building 
Page 3 of 3 

 

CLOSURE 

We thank you for the opportunity to propose on this hazard removal assessment effort, and hope our response meets your 
expectations. Please do not hesitate to contact me at your convenience if you have questions or require additional 
information. 

Sincerely, 

R&M CONSULTANTS, INC. ACCEPTED BY: 

  

Aaron T. Banks, C.P.G.  

Senior Geologist  

Attachments: Detailed Cost Estimate (5-pages) 

 
 

 

Packet Page Number 203 



Firm:

Client:

Task Discipline Labor Expenses Sub-Contractors Task Totals Cost Basis

1 ES 5,676.00$             -$                           -$                           5,676.00$             T&E

2 ES 17,622.00$           4,615.80$             -$                           22,237.80$           T&E

3 ES 11,160.00$           1,692.60$             -$                           12,852.60$           T&E

4 ES 6,840.00$             -$                           -$                           6,840.00$             T&E

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

-$                           -$                           -$                           -$                           

Project Title:
Date:

9/20/2023

Task Description

R&M

City of Unalaska
Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

Hazard Removal Construction Objective Planning

Rock Scaling Support

Total Project Cost Estimate:

Rock Blasting Support

Hazard Assessement Reporting

47,606$                                                  

Packet Page Number 204 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
Work Planning 2 12 16

0 2 12 16 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    492.00$             2,304.00$          2,880.00$          -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

-$                         
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 5,676.00$          
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% -$                         
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

1 TASK DESCRIPTION: Hazard Removal Construction Objective Planning DATE: 9/20/2023

TOTAL LABOR HOURS

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

SUB-TASK DESCRIPTION
Contract 
Manager

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task
FIRM:

* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 
LABOR COSTS ($) 

EXPENSES COMMENTS
ITEM(S) 1) R&M will prepare a report that defines objectives and general geometrics of the 

hazard removal for use as a guide during construction. 

FP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 205 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
2.1 Project Management and Coordination 1 4 2

2.2 Mobilization/Demobilization 4 24

2.3 Field Investigation 4 8 48

0 5 16 74 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    1,230.00$          3,072.00$          13,320.00$        -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

2.3 RT between ANC and DUT 1 1,978.00$          1,978.00$          
2.3 Per Diem (Lodging, Meals, Incidentals) 6 283.00$             1,698.00$          
2.3 Vehicle Rental and Fuel 6 120.00$             720.00$             

4,396$                
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 17,622.00$        
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% 4,615.80$          
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

2 TASK DESCRIPTION: Rock Scaling Support DATE: 9/20/2023

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

TOTAL LABOR HOURS

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)
Contract 
ManagerSUB-TASK DESCRIPTION

FIRM:

* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 
LABOR COSTS ($) 

EXPENSES
ITEM(S)

COMMENTS
1) Assumes 4 days of rock scaling support. Additional days on site will be billed at a 
rate of 12 hours per day plus per diem.
2) A site visit will be made by a Senior Geologist or Geotechnical Engineer to monitor 
hazard removal operations. 
3) Assumes no delays due to weather/travel. Should a delay occur, we will negotiate 
with the City of Unalaska for an equitable resolution. Unforeseen standby will be billed 
at a rate of 8 hours per day plus per diem.

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task

FP FPPE T&E CPFFFP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 206 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
3.1 Field Investigation 4 8 48

0 4 8 48 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    984.00$             1,536.00$          8,640.00$          -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

2.1 Per Diem (Lodging, Meals, Incidentals) 4 283.00$             1,132.00$          
2.1 Vehicle Rental and Fuel 4 120.00$             480.00$             

1,720$                
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 11,160.00$        
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% 1,692.60$          
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

3 TASK DESCRIPTION: Rock Scaling Support DATE: 9/20/2023

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

TOTAL LABOR HOURS

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)
Contract 
ManagerSUB-TASK DESCRIPTION

FIRM:

* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 
LABOR COSTS ($) 

EXPENSES
ITEM(S)

COMMENTS
1) Assumes 4 days of rock blasting support. Additional days on site will be billed at a 
rate of 12 hours per day plus per diem.
2) Mobilization/demobilization costs are accounted for under Task 1.
3) A site visit will be made by a Senior Geologist or Geotechnical Engineer to monitor 
hazard removal operations. 
4) Unforeseen standby will be billed at a rate of 8 hours per day plus per diem.

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task

FP FPPE T&E CPFFFP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 207 



FIRM:

TASK NO:

GROUP: METHOD OF PAYMENT:

L. Story B. Pintner A. Banks B. Mullen A. Brown
Reporting 4 8 24

0 4 8 24 0 0 0 0 0 0
276.00$             246.00$             192.00$             180.00$             108.00$             -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

-$                    984.00$             1,536.00$          4,320.00$          -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE
Project Expenses

108$                   
R&M Laboratory Testing

FIRM'S TOTAL COST OF LABOR (or Fixed Price): 6,840.00$          
-$                         
-$                         

R&M MATERIAL LABORATORY EXPENSES -$                         
FIRM'S TOTAL EXPENSES (w/ markup %) 5.0% -$                         
TOTAL SUBCONTRACTOR PRICES (w/markup %): 5.0% -$                         

TOTAL LABOR HOURS
* LABOR RATES ($/HR) 

LABOR COSTS ($) 
EXPENSES COMMENTS

FIRM:

ITEM(S) 1) A letter report will be prepared detailing site conditions, conclusion, and 
recommendations. 

TOTAL EXPENSES:

SUB-CONTRACTORS: Firm Initials and Price Per Task

ES PREPARED BY: A. Banks/T. Ross

SUB-TASK 
NO

SUB-TASK DESCRIPTION
Contract 
Manager

Prof 5 
(Geotech)

Prof 4 (Geol)
Prof 3 

(Geotech)
Geol 2 

(Geotech)

COST ESTIMATE PER TASK
R&M Consultants, Inc. PROJECT TITLE: Lattitude 54 Hazard Removal Support

4 TASK DESCRIPTION: Rock Blasting Support DATE: 9/20/2023

FP FPPE T&E CPFFFP FPPE T&E CPFF

Packet Page Number 208 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-40 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH SOUTHEAST ROADBUILDERS FOR ROCK 
STABILIZATION SERVICES FOR THE EMERGENCY CLIFF FACE STABILIZATON 
BALLYHOO ROAD PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $197,418  

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has determined the cliff face behind the Latitude 54 building on 
Ballyhoo Road to be a significant hazard to property and to human life; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska identified the hazard after a significant weather event and 
consulted with geologists to provide an initial risk assessment; and 

WHEREAS, the consultant concluded that the cliff face requires mitigation to stabilize; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska created an emergency project and the City Council funded the 
project; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska sought proposals from expert contractors in rock scaling and 
stabilization; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska received one proposal from a qualified contractor; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has negotiated a fair and reasonable price for services to be 
provided. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City 
Manager to enter into an agreement with Southeast Roadbuilders for rock stabilization services 
for the Cliff Face Stabilization Ballyhoo Road Project in the amount of $197,418. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 
10, 2023. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 209 



-1- 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Peggy McLaughlin, Port Director 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  October 10, 2023 
Re:  Resolution 2023-39 and Resolution 2023-40 
 
 

SUMMARY: The adoption of Resolution 2023-39 will authorize the City Manager to sign an 
agreement with R&M Consulting Inc. in the amount of $47,606 for on-going assessment during 
the rock stabilization project. Resolution 2023-40 will authorize the City Manager to sign an 
agreement with Southeast Roadbuilders in the amount of $151,860 for the stabilization of the cliff 
face at the Latitude 54 building on Ballyhoo Road.  

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: On September 26, 2023, Council had first reading of a budget 
amendment for this project, Ordinance 2023-10, and advanced it to public hearing and second 
reading tonight. 

BACKGROUND: In December of 2022 a severe storm caused community-wide flooding and mud 
and rock slides. These hazards included landslides and rock fall on and in the vicinity of parcel 
01-09-200 on Ballyhoo Road. Once the water had receded, large rock falls continued. A significant 
threat was identified on Ballyhoo Road parcel 01-09-200 in the form of a large overhanging rock 
wedge with a potential slip plane. A similar rock fell in 2014 and caused damage to the warehouse 
on the same parcel. Ultimately, the City was responsible for approximately 25% of the damages 
in the amount of $315,000.  

DISCUSSION: The emergency funding was requested through Ordinance 2023-10, FY24 Budget 
Amendment #1. The emergency funding was approved based on the contracts that are presented 
in Resolutions 2023-39 and 2023-40. The authorization of these funds will allow the project to 
begin.  

The threat of rock falls still exists, and property and human safety are at imminent risk. It is 
anticipated that the freeze and thaw cycles of winter could provoke the rock wedge to break loose. 
Weather is not the only risk. In June 2023, a forklift-sized rock fell from underneath wedge and 
along the slip plane. It is clear that action needs to be taken, and taken before we hit winter 
weather later this year. 

R&M Consultants, Inc. (R&M) conducted the first assessment in February 2023 and provided the 
City with names of contractors with hand scaling and rock anchoring expertise. We contacted 
each of those companies and had one response from Southeast Roadbuilders. We are 
considering this an emergency project and consequently are doing our due diligence to avoid sole 
sourcing, but also understand the urgency in expediting this project.  

There a few layers to the structure of this project. 

There are two contractors involved, R&M and Southeast Roadbuilders. The proposals are 
structured with a phased approach. Attached with this memo are two proposals from Southeast 
Roadbuilders and one from R&M. 

Packet Page Number 210 



-2- 
 

The first layer will be to hand-scale loose rock and break free and remove any potential hazards 
without aggressive action. This is outlined in the first proposal (Phase 1) from Southeast 
Roadbuilders. The proposal for this phase shows lump sum costs for mobilization and fixed costs 
and consumables along with daily rates for crew time for the other tasks. Their proposal states 
that it is anticipated to be four days for hand scaling (task 2) and two days for the blasting 
expert/manager onsite (task 3). By inputting their assumed number of days multiplied by the daily 
rate for tasks 2 and 3, we can assume a total estimated cost of phase 1 to be $75,280. 

After the hand-scaling is complete, R&M will reassess the rock over hang and determine whether 
or not more aggressive efforts need be taken to secure the rock face. If further rock removal is 
required, Southeast Roadbuilders has provided a proposal for blasting and removing additional 
rock hazards. The proposal for phase 2 is a little clearer with the days included in the quantity for 
tasks 2 and 3. The total estimated cost for phase 2 is $76,580. 

Totaling phase 1 work and phase 2 work gets us to $151,860. Staff recommends a contingency 
of 30% be added, for a total cost of work, with contingency, of $197,418. 

Geotechnical expertise shall be provided by R&M. R&M did the initial assessment of the rock face 
in February 2023. R&M will work with the contractor for the duration of the project to provide 
hazard removal assessment services during the removal process and an assessment report with 
conclusions and recommendations at the completion of the removal effort. R&M’s proposal is 
attached and is in the amount of $47,606. 

Weather permitting, the project is estimated to be completed in 8-10 days. 

ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to approve the resolutions; or not to approve the 
resolutions. Council could also choose to put this through the traditional CMMP process, which is 
not recommended due to the imminent danger to people and property. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The total cost of this project including contingency is $245,024 and 
is funded by the General Fund. 

LEGAL: There are no immediate legal requirements to this, but failing to address this will likely 
result in future liability to the City. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-39 and Resolution 
2023-40. 

PROPOSED MOTION: Separate motions will be needed for each resolution: 

I move to adopt Resolution 2023-39. 

I move to adopt Resolution 2023-40. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the Staff Recommendation. It is important to shore up 
this cliff face to prevent future damage to people and property. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Southeast Roadbuilders – Phase 1 Proposal 
2. Southeast Roadbuilders – Phase 2 Proposal 
3. Proposal from R&M Consultants, Inc. 

Packet Page Number 211 



HC60 Box 4800
Haines, Ak 99827
PHONE:  907-766-2833
FAX:       907-766-2832

CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE NO.: 134313
BUSINESS LICENSE NO.:  1086571

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE
1 Mobilization L.S. All Req'd $29,000.00

2 Daily Rate - scaling/anchors (Site Development) ea. day $6,495.00

3 Blasting/Matting/Scaling Manager (prep for phase II) ea. day $2,200.00

4 Fixed Costs- (consumables and rentals) L.S. All Req'd $15,900.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF QUOTATION

NOTES: 1 ea. mobilization - in/out 

INCLUSIONS:  
Mobilization Includes crew to/from, freight for all non available materials/supplies from ANCH/ANCH layover
Day rate includes rental vehicle/3 ea. laborers/specialist/hotels/perdiem/equip. operating costs

9 hour day work day anticipated
local support for equipment and available consumables
(Item #3 -Manager will be knowledge of all available resources based upon methods recommended

(matting/blasting/rock bolting/dowels, etc.)
Anchoring system for scaling personnel

EXCLUSIONS:
Authorization for access above site and scaling debris removal by others
Permitting
Performance and Payment Bonding
non daylight work

● This quote may be withdrawn if not signed and returned within 30 days.
● TERMS:  Full payment due within 30 days of invoice, unless defined otherwise via subcontact

A FINANCE CHARGE OF .88% per month (which is an annual percentage rate of 10.5%) will be imposed on any portion
of your account not paid within 30 days after billing date.  

● A service charge of 2.5% will be imposed on all credit card payments
If this proposal meets your approval, please complete and return.  Your signature on one copy returned to us will make this a legal 

contract for the performance of the above work and your acceptance of the terms listed.

Company: Phone No. 

Billing Address:

Authorized Signer:
(printed name)

SIGNATURE:

date:

AMOUNT
$29,000.00

$44,900.00
L.S.(Lump Sum)/TBD(To Be Determined)/ea.(Each)/C.S.(Contingent Sum)/Tn(ton)/c.y.(cubic yard)                 Borough Sales Tax Added Where Applicable

Without scaling incidental areas (away from wedge), we don't anticipate over 4 days of work, - R&M will direct accordingly

$15,900.00

Item #3 - We don't expect this to be over a 2-day task to analyze and provide a risk assessment

Scaling at the direction of R&M Consultants (scaling only task)

PHASE I - Latitude 54 Rockfall Mitigation (scaling only)

OWNER:  - City of Unalaska
DATE:  September 17, 2023

Project:

QUOTATION FOR: 

Unalaska, Alaska   99692

International Port of Dutch Harbor (Unalaska)
Attn: Marc Kielmeyer, Project Engineer

Packet Page Number 212 



HC60 Box 4800
Haines, Ak 99827
PHONE:  907-766-2833
FAX:       907-766-2832

CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE NO.: 134313
BUSINESS LICENSE NO.:  1086571

ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE
1 Mobilization* L.S. All Req'd $1,600.00

2 Set-up (matting-secure site for release) 4.0 day $6,495.00

3 Professional Services w/ monitoring 4.0 day $3,200.00

4 Fixed Costs- (consumables, explosives/rentals/matting...) L.S. All Req'd $36,200.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF QUOTATION

NOTES:

Guestimate of 4-days work for wedge only. (netting/drilling/loading/shooting)
See phase I for any scaling or manual rock removal requirements

INCLUSIONS:  
Assumes mats or approved protective netting is available in Unalaska
Day rate includes rental vehicle/3 ea. laborers/specialist/hotels/perdiem/equip. operating costs
         also includes drilling for explosives as directed by specialist
Blasting magazine, blasting supplies, explosives and initiators are readily available for purchase in Unalaska
9 hour day work day anticipated
Local support for equipment and available consumables
Specialist working with R&M Consultants
Seismographs and vibration monitoring

EXCLUSIONS:
Scaling after release of wedge (uncertain of site conditions beyond, behind or above wedge)
Authorization for access above site by others/Clean-up & removal of scaled and rockfall materials
Permitting, Performance and Payment Bonding
Non daylight work

● This quote may be withdrawn if not signed and returned within 30 days.
● TERMS:  Full payment due within 30 days of invoice, unless defined otherwise via subcontract

A FINANCE CHARGE OF .88% per month (which is an annual percentage rate of 10.5%) will be imposed on any portion
of your account not paid within 30 days after billing date.  

● A service charge of 2.5% will be imposed on all credit card payments
If this proposal meets your approval, please complete and return.  Your signature on one copy returned to us will make this a legal 

contract for the performance of the above work and your acceptance of the terms listed.

Company: Phone No. 

Billing Address:

Authorized Signer:
(printed name)

SIGNATURE:

OWNER:  - City of Unalaska
DATE:  September 17, 2023

Project:

QUOTATION FOR: 

Unalaska, Alaska   99692

International Port of Dutch Harbor (Unalaska)

748 Ballyhoo Road
Attn: Marc Kielmeyer, Project Engineer

date:

Latitude 54 Rockfall Mitigation (Wedge Removal Option - Estimate Only)

AMOUNT
$1,600.00

$76,580.00
L.S.(Lump Sum)/TBD(To Be Determined)/ea.(Each)/C.S.(Contingent Sum)/Tn(ton)/c.y.(cubic yard)                 Borough Sales Tax Added Where Applicable

This assumes we have a quick solution and Phase II immediately transitions from Phase I

$25,980.00

$36,200.00

Wedge Work Only

*Mobilization - Assumes men "on-site" and paid in Phase 1 - otherwise approximately $25,200.00)

$12,800.00

Packet Page Number 213 



-1- 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION 

 
THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL hereby certifies the results of the General Municipal Election 
held October 3, 2023, as presented by the Election Board and Canvass Committee, as follows: 
 

OFFICES / CANDIDATES / QUESTIONS  VOTE TALLY 
 
CITY COUNCIL SEAT CC-B 

Thomas Bell ............................................................ 166 
Brenda Baker  ......................................................... 142 
Write-ins ...................................................................... 9 

 
CITY COUNCIL SEAT CC-E 

Dennis M. Robinson ................................................ 141 
Anthony Longo ........................................................ 178 
Write-ins ...................................................................... 4 
 

SCHOOL BOARD SEAT SB-B 
Write-ins .................................................................. 108 
 
Brian Rankin ............................................................. 17 
Nicole Bice ................................................................ 13 
(top two votes listed) 
 

SCHOOL BOARD SEAT SB-C 
Amanda Schmahl  ................................................... 289 
Write-ins ...................................................................... 7 

 
SCHOOL BOARD SEAT SB-E 

Trever Shaishnikoff  ................................................ 295 
Write-ins ...................................................................... 4 
 
 

The Unalaska City Council, with this certification, hereby declares the following: 

1. THOMAS BELL is elected to City Council Seat CC-B, for a 3-year term expiring October 
2025. 

2. ANTHONY LONGO is elected to City Council Seat CC-E for a 3-year term expiring 
October 2025. 

3. NO CANDIDATE received in excess of 40% of the vote for School Board Seat SB-B. 

4. AMANDA SCHMAHL is elected to School Board Seat SB-C for a 2-year term expiring 
October 2025. 

5. TREVER SHAISHNIKOFF is elected to School Board Seat SB-E for a 3-year term expiring 
October 2026. 

Packet Page Number 214 



-2- 
 

The City Clerk is authorized to deliver a copy of this Certificate of Election to every person elected. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 
10, 2023. 
 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 215 



 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Estkarlen P. Magdaong, City Clerk 
Date:  October 10, 2023 
Re: Canvass Committee Report; and Certification of Election Results 
 
 
SUMMARY: Pursuant to code, the City Council is to publicly declare and certify the election 
results on the first Tuesday following the election. The Canvass Committee recommends that 
Council certify the results as presented. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: This procedure is followed annually. 
 
BACKGROUND and DISCUSSION: The General Municipal Election was held on October 3, 
2023, following which the Election Board reconciled ballots and completed a tally of the ballots 
cast on Election Day. 
 
The Canvass Committee met on October 6, 2023 to canvass the absentee, special needs and 
questioned ballots, and to compile final election results. 
 
Presented to Council tonight is the Canvass Committee Report containing the final results, tallying 
both Election Day ballots and the ballots counted by the Canvass Committee. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: The City Clerk and the Canvass Committee recommend certification of 
the election results as presented. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to certify the results of the October 3, 2023 General Election as 
presented by the Election Board and the Canvass Committee. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

 Canvassing Committee Report 
 Canvass Committee Tally 
 Election Day Ballot Reconciliation Statement  
 Tabulator results from Election Day and Canvass Committee 

Packet Page Number 216 



Packet Page Number 217 



Packet Page Number 218 



308
7
1

316

6
1
7

16
2
0
0

18

20

ELECTION DAY CANVASS TOTAL % VOTE

157 9 166 52%
133 9 142 45%

8 1 9 3%
298 19 317

135 6 141 44%
164 14 178 55%

4 0 4 1%
303 20 323

101 7 108

16 1 17 16%
13 0 13 12%

279 16 295 99%
3 1 4 1%

282 17 299

Not Qualified to Vote (not counted)
Qualified to Vote (counted)

City of Unalaska October 3, 2023 General Election
Canvass Committee Tally - October 6, 2023

ELECTION DAY
Ballots Cast
Questioned Ballots (not on register)
Special Needs Ballots

QUESTIONED BALLOTS

EARLY AND ABSENTEE BALLOTS
In Person Ballots
Email, Fax, Mail Ballots
Special Needs Ballots

Nicole Bice

SCHOOL BOARD SEAT E
Trever Shaishnikoff

Write-ins

Questioned Ballots

Ballots to Tally by Canvass Committee

FINAL ELECTION RESULTS-Candidates

Thomas Bell
COUNCIL SEAT B

COUNCIL SEAT E

SCHOOL BOARD SEAT B
Write-ins

Brian Rankin

Brenda Baker
Write-ins

Dennis M. Robinson
Anthony Longo

Write-ins

Packet Page Number 219 



Packet Page Number 220 



Packet Page Number 221 



Packet Page Number 222 



CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-41 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL APPOINTING JUDGES AND CLERKS FOR THE 
RUN-OFF ELECTION ON OCTOBER 30, 2023 AND JUDGES TO SERVE ON THE CANVASS COMMITTEE 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 4.08.020(A) states that before each city election, the City Council shall 
appoint three election judges to constitute the Election Board, one who is designated the Chair and may 
appoint two election clerks; and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 4.04.050 states that wages for non-employee election judges and clerks 
shall be established by resolution of the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 4.08.020(B) states that the City Council will serve as a canvass committee, 
or may appoint three judges to constitute the canvass committee, who will canvass all votes after the election 
judges have completed their tally. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Unalaska City Council that the following persons are appointed 
judges and clerks for the October 30, 2023 Run-off Election and shall attend at the Unalaska Precinct Polling 
place, namely Unalaska City Hall, at 7:30 a.m. on October 30, 2023 and shall continue until polls close at 8:00 
p.m. Thereafter, the judges and clerks shall count and check all votes cast against the poll listed in the manner 
required by law: 
 

ELECTION BOARD 
 
Judges :   Clerks: 
Estkarlen Magdaong, Chair Shelly Blakeley 
Alicia Aguilar   M. Lynn Crane 
Elizabeth Whitaker  Lorene Palmer 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the following persons are appointed as judges to constitute the Canvass 
Committee, who shall meet on Friday, November 3, 2023, at 10:00 a.m., to canvass all votes after the election 
judges have completed their tally: 
 

CANVASS COMMITTEE JUDGES 
 
Estkarlen Magdaong, Chair 
Alicia Aguilar 
Shari Coleman 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that non-employee election judges and clerks shall be paid twenty dollars ($20) 
per hour. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on October 10, 2023. 
 
 
 
      ________________________________________  

Mayor Pro Tem 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 223 



 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Estkarlen P. Magdaong, City Clerk 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  October 10, 2023 
Re: Resolution 2023-41: Appointing Judges and Clerks for the Run-off Election on 

October 30, 2023 and Judges to serve on the Canvass Committee 
 
 
SUMMARY: City Code requires Council to appoint three judges and Council may appoint two 
clerks to serve as the Election Board for the municipal election to be held on October 30, 2023; 
and Council is to appoint three judges to serve as the Canvass Committee on November 3, 2023. 
Resolution 2023-41 accomplishes these mandates. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council adopts a similar resolution for each local election; but 
there is no previous Council action in relation to the Run-Off Election. 
 
DISCUSSION: UCO 4.08.020 requires appointment of three judges and states council may 
appoint two clerks to serve as the Election Board, and allows for the City Clerk to appoint 
additional clerks should the need arise.  
 
City Council is to act as the Canvass Committee or may appoint three judges to constitute the 
Canvass Committee, which is the option typically taken. Traditionally, one Council member serves 
on the Canvass Committee and Shari Coleman has agreed to serve in this capacity.  
 
Additionally, Code states that Council determines the rate of pay for non-employee election 
workers by resolution. Resolution 2023-41 sets the hourly rate of pay at $20 per hour. The City 
Clerk feels this rate of pay is fair and reasonable, as it matches what the State of Alaska, Division 
of Elections pay their election workers, and the Clerk’s Department budget contains sufficient 
funds to cover the expense. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: None. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Pay for non-employee election workers is included in the Clerk’s 
Office FY24 budget. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-41. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2023-41.  

CITY MANAGER’S COMMENTS: The City Manager concurs with the Staff Recommendation. 
 

Packet Page Number 224 


	Agenda 2023 10 10
	5a Employee Anniversary - Miller
	772CCoTF_TA5Cco_0
	Employee anniversary


	5b Employee Anniversary - Mahoney
	80C3CoTF_gLuY06_0
	Employee anniversary


	6 FY24 DVAM Proclamation
	7 Oath of Office - Hankins
	9 Draft Minutes 2023 09 26
	10 City Manager Report 2023 10 10
	13a Ordinance 2023-10 FY24 BA #1
	ORD 2023-10 - FY24 Budget Amendment No.1 - CM APPROVED
	ORD 2023-10 - FY24 Budget Amendment No.1 Support- CM APPROVED
	Memo Ports FY24 Budget Amendment rock stabilization - CM APPROVED
	Unalaska - Phase 1
	Unalaska - Phase 2A
	Latitude 54 Hazard Removal Proposal
	Scope of Geotechnical HAZARD REMOVAL ASSESMENT Services
	Schedule
	Assumptions and Conditions
	Price
	Closure
	Latitude 54 Hazard Removal Fee Estimate.pdf
	COST SUMMARY
	Task 1
	Task 2
	Task 3
	Task 4


	Memo PCR FY24 Budget Amendment_Go 4 Life Funding - CM APPROVED
	Memo FEMS HEC Grant - CM APPROVED

	14a Presentation City of Unalaska FY 22 Audit Wrap Up
	City of unalaska
	Slide Number 2
	Welcome
	Executive �Summary
	Status of Our Audit
	Results of the Audit
	Results of the Audit
	Results of the Audit
	Results of the Audit
	Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
	Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
	Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
	Additional Required Communications
	Other Required Communications
	Other Required Communications
	Independence
	Audit Firm System of Quality Management
	Slide Number 18

	14b City of Unalaska ACFR 22
	14c City of Unalaska SA 22
	15b Resolution 2023-39 R&M Consultants Inc. Agreement
	Resolution 2023-39
	Staff Memo - Resolution 2023-39 and 2023-40
	Attachment 3 R&M
	Scope of Geotechnical HAZARD REMOVAL ASSESMENT Services
	Schedule
	Assumptions and Conditions
	Price
	Closure
	Latitude 54 Hazard Removal Fee Estimate.pdf
	COST SUMMARY
	Task 1
	Task 2
	Task 3
	Task 4



	15c Resolution 2023-40 Southeast Rockbuilders Agreement
	Resolution 2023-40
	Staff Memo - Resolution 2023-39 and 2023-40
	Attachment 1 SE Roadbuilders
	Attachment 2 SE Roadbuilders

	15d Canvass Report and Certification of Election Results
	Certification of October 2023 Municipal Election
	Council Memo Certify Election
	Canvass Committee Report
	Canvass Committee Tally
	Ballot Reconciliation Statement
	Tabulator results from Election Day and Canvass Committee

	15e Resolution 2023-41 Appointing Judges and Clerks for Run-Off Election
	Resolution Election Board and Canvass Committee
	Staff Memo Election Board and Canvass Committee


